#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-06-2017

### IN SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

In re the Commitment of HOWARD C. CARTER:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2015AP01311

HOWARD C. CARTER,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 3 AFFIRMING AN ORDER DENYING A PETITION FOR DISCHARGE AND ORDER DENYING POST-COMMITMENT MOTION ORDERED AND ENTERED BY BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH 4, CIRCUIT JUDGE KENDALL M. KELLEY PRESIDING

# RESPONDENT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

KACHINSKY LAW OFFICES

By: Len Kachinsky State Bar No. 01018347

832 Neff Court

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING CARTER A TRIAL ON HIS PETITION FOR DISCHARGE BECAUSE 2013 ACT 84 DID NOT APPLY TO THIS CASE AND COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN NOT OBJECTING TO ITS APPLICATION?

The trial court and the Court of Appeals answered this question in the negative. The issue was raised in the trial court and in the briefs of the parties to the Court of Appeals.

II. IF 2013 ACT 94 APPLIED TO THIS CASE, SHOULD THE SAVING CONSTRUCTION APPLIED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS IN *HAGER* BE APPLIED AND WAS CARTER ENTITLED TO A DISCHARGE TRIAL UNDER THAT CONSTRUCTION?

Neither the trial court and the Court of Appeals answered this question. The issue was not raised in the trial court but the construction issue was raised in the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case and *State v*.

Hager which this court also accepted for review and which is included in the appendix to this brief (App. 132-156).

III. IF 2013 ACT 84 APPLIED TO THIS CASE, WAS IT UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT UNDULY RESTRICTED ACCESS TO THE COURTS FOR PERSONS COMMITTED UNDER CHAPTER 980 SEEKING TO TERMINATE THEIR COMMITMENT?

The trial court and the Court of Appeals answered this question in the negative. The issue was raised in the trial court and in the briefs of the parties to the Court of Appeals.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is routinely held in cases accepted for review by this court. Publication is also appropriate in cases accepted for review by this court.

Both the questions of retroactivity of 2013 Act 84 and its constitutionality are novel ones, the resolution of which will have statewide impact. Further, the question presented is not factual in nature but rather is a question of law of the type that is likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 5, 2009, following a jury trial and verdict (68), Circuit Judge Kendall Kelley committed Carter as a sexually violent person (SVP) under Chapter 980, Wisconsin Statutes (69). The commitment order was upheld by this court in Case No. 2009 AP 01742 on April 6, 2010 (86). On February 11, 2013, Carter signed and on February 26, 2013 filed a petition for discharge (125). Carter also filed a petition for supervised release (127). On February 12, 2013, Attorney Eric Pangburn was appointed to represent

Carter (121). Carter waived the time limits for a decision on his petitions (129). At Carter's request, the court appointed Diane Lytton as a respondent's expert (131). During the interim, the court conducted a series of status conferences while waiting for the report and did not conduct a probable cause hearing on the February 12, 2013 petition. On December 13, 2013, Carter filed another petition for discharge through counsel with a report by Diane Lytton which found that Carter met criteria for discharge (143). The report found Carter no longer met SVP criteria based upon the defects in Static 99R base rates, the MATS-I and Carter's improved behavior at Sand Ridge Secure Treatment Center (SRSTC). The day after Carter's new petition was filed, 2013 Act 84, which changed the procedure for entitlement to a discharge trial, became effective.

Probable cause hearings were held on February 6, 2014; May 23, 2014; and June 24, 2014 (194-196). At the June 24, 2014, the court denied the petition for discharge (196: 38-54) and entered a written order on August 8, 2014 (164; App. 101). Carter filed a timely notice of intent to purse post dispositional relief on July 18, 2014 (162). Sec. 809.30(2)(b), Wis. Stats.<sup>1</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sec. 809.30(2) provides in part that "If the record discloses that sentencing or final adjudication occurred after the notice of intent was filed, the notice shall be treated as filed after sentencing or final adjudication on the day of the sentencing or final adjudication.

The undersigned attorney was appointed to represent Carter in post dispositional proceedings and filed a post-dispositional motion on December 30, 2014 (166). The court held a hearing on the post-dispositional motion on April 24, 2015 (198). On June 30, 2015, the court issued a written decision and order denying the post dispositional motion (189, App. 114-131). Carter subsequently filed a notice of appeal (190) directed at the order denying his petition for discharge and the denial of his post-commitment motion. On January 24, 2017, the Court of Appeals affirmed the order denying the petition for discharge and post-commitment motion (App. 101-112). This case was ordered published on February 22, 2017 and is now cited as *State v. Carter*, 2017 WI App 9, 373 Wis. 2d 722, N.W.2d ...

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. The Lytton Report.

The basis for Carter's December 13, 2013 discharge petition (143) was the report by Diane Lytton PhD. (Lytton Report) attached to it. Dr. Lytton's report concluded that Carter did not have a mental disorder under Chapter 980 and that his risk to reoffend was not "more likely than not."

(143: 2). Carter had advanced to Phase 2 of treatment at Sand Ridge Secure Treatment Center (SRSTC) (143: 3). During her clinical interview, Lytton noted that Carter's behavior at SRSTC had improved; that he attended church; that he was taking college classes; and was regarded as a good worker (143: 3-5). Carter's Static 99R score was either 8 or 9 with a 5 year recidivism rate of 29-39 percent (143: 6). On the MATS-1, an instrument not used during other evaluations, Carter's risk to reoffend was 36 percent over 8 years (143: 6). The "High Risk/Needs" base rate sample had a large amount of out-of-date sex offenders in the sample and thus was not used (143: 6). Carter's age was approaching  $40^2$  which further reduced his risk (143: 6). Lytton's opinion was that Carter understood his prior attitudes toward sex and women and that he had made significant treatment progress (143:6).

#### B. Court Proceedings after the December 13, 2013 Petition Filed.

Attorney Pangburn stated at the February 6, 2014 hearing that the Act 84 standard applied (194: 6, 18). He did not argue that the *Arends* standard should apply and did not challenge the court's use of *Daubert* in assessing the sufficiency of the MATS-1 which was a major basis of Lytton's expert opinion. Pangburn also did not challenge the constitutionality of 2013 Act

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Carter's date of birth was 2/08/1976. Thus, he will turn 40 on 2/08/2016.

84<sup>3</sup> if it applied to Carter's petition for discharge. The State conceded that under *Arends* there might have been sufficient facts alleged in the amended petition which included the report by Lytton referencing Carter's improved behavior and new science to warrant a discharge trial (194: 12, 16-17, 23-24). The court expressed concern that it had the burden under Act 84 to possibly shortcut the fact-finding process (194: 21-22).

At the continued probable cause hearing on June 24, 2014, , the court, without objection by counsel, considered in a colloquy with ADA Greene whether the MATS-1 was sufficient under *Daubert* (196: 7-15). Attorney Pangburn argued that the Lytton report demonstrated changes in Carter and the research since Carter's February 5, 2009 commitment trial sufficient to warrant a discharge trial (196: 18-25). Pangburn also suggested a *Daubert* hearing was appropriate (196: 25-28). ADA Greene made further arguments regarding *Daubert*'s application to the court's analysis (196: 28-31). The court ruled that Carter was not entitled to a discharge trial (196: 38-54).

C. <u>Testimony at Post Commitment Motion Hearing and Decision</u>.

At the hearing on April 24, 2015, Attorney Eric Pangburn testified that he was aware of the enactment of 2013 Act 84 that was effective

7

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This legislation will also be referred to as "Act 84" in this brief.

December 14, 2013 (198: 9, 18). Pangburn's opinion was that Act 84 rather than prior law applied to Carter's petition (198: 10). Act 84 made it more difficult for Carter to get a trial on discharge (198: 12). Pangburn did not consider challenging the constitutionality of 2013 Act 84 on the grounds it violated procedural and substantive due process (198: 15-16).

Carter's position was that if *Arends* applied Carter was entitled to a discharge trial but the State held the opposite opinion<sup>4</sup> (198: 23).

In his decision and order dated June 25, 2015, Judge Kelley found that Act 84 applied to discharge petitions such as the one filed by Carter that were filed before the effective date of Act 84 but still pending at the time Act 84 took effect (189: 8; App. 121). Further, the facts alleged in Carter's discharge petition were not sufficient for a discharge trial even under *Arends*, the effective standard prior to Act 84 (189: 10-11; App. 123-124). Act 84 was procedural rather than substantive in its changes to Chapter 980 discharge procedures (189: 11; App. 124). Act 84 did not unconstitutionally restrict Carter's access to the courts or an impartial factfinder (189: 13-15; App. 126-128). Attorney Pangburn was not ineffective for not opposing the application of Act 84 to Carter's discharge petition (189: 15-16; App. 128-129).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This differed from its position at an earlier hearing (194: 12, 16-17, 23-24).

Further facts will be stated in the argument below.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. CARTER'S DISCHARGE PETITION WAS SUFFICIENT UNDER ARENDS AND HAGER TO WARRANT A DISCHARGE TRIAL.

#### A. Standard of Review.

The issue of whether facts alleged in Carter's petition for discharge were sufficient to warrant a discharge trial is a matter of law. The interpretation and application of a statute to an undisputed set of facts are questions of law that the Court of Appeals reviews independently. *Estate of Genrich v. OHIC Ins. Co.*, 2009 WI 67, ¶ 10, 318 Wis.2d 553, 769 N.W.2d 481 (citation omitted). Thus, this court reviews Judge Kelley's decision that denied Carter's petition for discharge even under the *Arends* standard that prevailed before 2013 Act 84 *de novo*.

B. The facts alleged in the Lytton Report were sufficient to warrant a discharge trial under *Arends* and *Hager*.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court set forth the analysis the trial court was required to engage in as to the disposition of a petition for discharge in *State v. Arends*, 2010 WI 46, 325 Wis. 2d 1, 784 N.W.2d 513.

The *Arends* court stated:

- ¶ 3 We conclude that § 980.09 requires the circuit court to follow a two-step process in determining whether to hold a discharge hearing.
- ¶ 4 Under § 980.09(1), the circuit court engages in a paper review of the petition only, including its attachments, to determine whether it alleges facts from which a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that the petitioner does not meet the criteria for commitment as a sexually violent person. This review is a limited one aimed at assessing the sufficiency of the allegations in the petition. If the petition does allege sufficient facts, the circuit court proceeds to a review under § 980.09(2).
- ¶ 5 Wisconsin Stat. § 980.09(2) requires the circuit court to review specific items enumerated in that subsection, including all past and current reports filed under § 980.07.<sup>3</sup> The circuit court need not, however, seek out these items if they are not already within the record. Nevertheless, it may request additional enumerated items not previously submitted, and also has the discretion to conduct a hearing to aid in its determination. The circuit court's task is to determine whether the petition and the additional supporting materials before the court contain any facts from which a reasonable ¶trier of fact could conclude that the petitioner does not meet the criteria for commitment as a sexually violent person.

Arends,  $\P$  3-5.

Sec. 980.09(1), Wis. Stats., which was in effect when Carter filed his discharge petition, provided:

**980.09 Petition for discharge**. (1) A committed person may petition the committing court for discharge at any time. The court shall deny the petition under this section without a hearing unless the petition alleges facts from which the court or jury may conclude the person's condition has changed since the

date of his or her initial commitment order so that the person does not meet the criteria for commitment as a sexually violent person.

The Court of Appeals interpreted 2013 Act 84 in a way that did not allow the trial court to weigh the evidence for and against a petition and sustained most of this court's previous decisions regarding the process for obtaining a discharge trial set forth in *State v. Arends*, 2010 WI 46, 325 Wis. 2d 1, 784 N.W.2d 513 (App. 119-120). See also decision of the Court of Appeals the same day as this case authored by the same judge in *State v. Hager*, (Case No. 15 AP 330) 2017 App. 8, ¶43, 373 Wis2d 692, \_\_\_\_\_ N.W.2d \_\_\_ (App. 131-156).

The Court of Appeals referenced its decision in *Hager* in this case. It held that the changes in 2013 Act 84 simply required a "material increase in the petition's burden of production" from "may conclude" to "would likely conclude" *Hager*, ¶31. If this court determines it need not address the constitutionality of the changes in 2013 Act 84, this court must clarify or harmonize the law. It is hard to imagine how a trial court determines that a Chapter 980 patient has met the burden under *Arends* but not met its burden under Act 84 without weighing the evidence in some matter.

In *Hager*, the Court of Appeals held that the change in Hager's burden as a result of Act 84 was that Hager has to show that a fact finder "would

likely conclude" rather than "may conclude" that Hager was no longer a sexually violent person. *Hager*, ¶2. In this case, the Lytton Report (143: 2-7), referenced Carter's legal and social history and recent behaviors at Sand Ridge Secure Treatment Center (SRSTC) (143: 2-5). She used the MATS-1 instrument not used in previous evaluations (143: 6) and recently discovered defects in part of the Static 99R regarding "an out-of-date large sample of sex offenders) in the High Risk/Needs base rate subsample (143: 6). Carter also demonstrated "significant treatment progress" that reduced Carter's risk (143: 4,6). In Lytton's opinion, Carter did not have the required mental disorder for a sexually violent person (SVP) (143: 2, 5).

Judge Kelley downplayed the significance of new research and observations referenced in Lytton's report during the colloquy with counsel (196: 9-32, 48-49). He choose instead to criticize the report for not containing enough background information on Carter and lack of evidence in Lytton's report that the MATS-1 was commonly used in the field of sexually violent person evaluators (189: 4; App. 117). Lytton's report went beyond the MATS-1 and also reported the problems with application of the Static 99R to Carter and Carter's treatment progress (143: 4, 6). It was clear that the trial court was not applying *Arends* but weighing the evidence.

Under *Arends* and *Hager*, Carter made a sufficient showing that a judge or jury would likely find the new evidence regarding changes in the science or Carter's progress in treatment, taken alone and not weighed against other evidence of record, was sufficiently probative to justify a trial to discharge Carter from his Chapter 980 commitment. While neither Carter's attorney or the trial court had the benefit of *Hager* in their decision-making process, this court should consider whether the matter should be remanded for a determination under *Hager* if Carter was entitled to a discharge trial.

II. 2013 ACT 84, WHICH INCREASED REQUIREMENTS FOR A TRIAL ON DISCHARGE PETITIONS, SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN APPLIED TO THE DISCHARGE PETITION IN THIS CASE THAT WAS FILED PRIOR TO ITS EFFECTIVE DATE. FAILURE TO ARGUE OTHERWISE WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

#### A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review for whether Act 84 applied to Carter's discharge petition is also *de novo* as it is an issue of law. See I(A) above. As to ineffective assistance of counsel, the trial court's findings as to what the attorney did, what happened at trial and the basis for the challenged conduct are factual and will be upheld on appeal unless they are clearly

erroneous. *State v. Weber*, 174 Wis. 2d 98, 496 N.W.2d 762, 768 (Wis. App. 1993). However, whether counsel's actions were deficient is a question of law to be determined independently by the reviewing court. *State v. Hubanks*, 173 Wis. 2d 1, 496 N.W.2d 96, 104-05 (Wis. App. 1992).

## B. 2013 Act 84 should not have been applied to Carter's petition as the discharge petition was filed before its effective date.

The effective date of 2013 Act 84 was the day after publication, to wit: December 14, 2013. Sec. 991.11, Wis. Stats. Application of the effective date issue in this case is complicated because it is unclear how Act 84 applies to cases with discharge petitions already "in the pipeline" at the time the law took effect.

There is an ambiguity on the issue of whether the new or old provisions apply if, as in this case, a petition for discharge was filed under the old provisions but the probable cause hearing had not been held by the effective date of Act 84.

In proceedings before the Court of Appeals, the State characterized the issue as being whether the change regarding a Chapter 980 patient's access to a trial on discharge was remedial or procedural rather than

substantive. State's brief, pages 4-8. If remedial or procedural, the State contended that Act 84 was retroactive not only to discharge petitions filed on or after December 14, 2013 but those filed before that date that had passed the two hurdles of the *Arends*<sup>5</sup> "paper review" to warrant a discharge trial.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court's most recent review on retroactivity of a "procedural" statute to cases already "in the pipeline" was *Trinity* Petroleum v. Scott Oil Co., 2007 WI 88, 302 Wis.2d 299, 735 N.W.2d 1. In Trinity Petroleum, Scott Oil, a successful movant for summary judgment, requested costs and fees from Trinity Petroleum for a frivolous action. While the motion for summary judgment was pending decision, Sec. 802.05, Wis. Stats, was enacted that limited award of costs and fees to cases where a "safe harbor" letter was sent to the offending party. Five days after the new rule was effective, the trial court ruled in favor of Scott Oil whose subsequent request for costs and fees was denied because the new "safe harbor" statute had not been complied with. Trinity Petroleum argued that the newly enacted Sec. 802.05 was retroactive because it was procedural. The *Trinity Petroleum* court noted that

¶ 53 Retroactive application of procedural rules is not, however, an absolute rule. For example, a procedural statute will not have retroactive application if it impairs contracts or

disturbs vested rights. The court has stated that "it is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In re Commitment of Arends, 2010 WI 46, 325 Wis.2d 1, 784 N.W.2d 513.

fundamental rule of statutory construction that a retroactive operation is not to be given so as to impair an existing right or obligation otherwise than in matters of procedure . . . . "41 Furthermore, retroactive application of a procedural rule must not "impose[] an unreasonable burden" upon the party attempting to comply with the procedural requirements of the rule. 42

¶ 54 This court's analysis in *Mosing v. Hagen*, 33 Wis.2d 636, 148 N.W.2d 93 (1967), is particularly instructive in teaching that retroactive application of procedural rules is not absolute. *Mosing* held that a statute (that was adopted by the court through its rulemaking authority pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 751.12) applied retroactively unless it affected a vested or contractual right or imposed an unreasonable burden upon the party attempting to comply with the procedural requirements.

*Trinity Petroleum,* ¶53-54.

The issue of retroactively must first be analyzed in terms of whether Carter had a "vested right" to a discharge trial. *Trinity Petroleum* ¶62. In *Trinity Petroleum*, the Supreme Court held that the right to attorneys fees for a party harmed by a frivolous action was not a "vested right." Judge Kelley held that Carter did not have a "vested right" to a discharge trial and thus that Act 84 could be retroactive to his petition as a new procedural rule (189: 10; App. 128).

Carter disagrees. This case involves a deprivation of liberty and access to an impartial fact finder by an institutionalized person rather than a monetary award that was at issue in *Trinity Petroleum*. In order for a

deprivation of liberty in a civil commitment to be constitutional, it must have mechanisms for periodic review and access to a hearing. See *State ex rel*. *Watts v. Combined Cmty. Servs. Bd.*, 122 Wis. 2d 65, 362 N.W.2d 104

(1985). On that grounds alone, Act 84 should not be applied retroactively to this case. See discussion later in (III) on the constitutionality of Act 84's greater restrictions on access to a trial for persons seeking discharge from a Chapter 980 commitment.

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