RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-12-2017

IN SUPREME COUR **COUR COUR COUR COUR**

Case No. 2015AP1311

In re the commitment of Howard Carter: STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

HOWARD CARTER,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, AFFIRMING ORDERS ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BROWN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KENDALL M. KELLEY, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONER-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. Carter's attorney was not ineffective for agreeing that the revisions made by 2013 Wis. Act 84 to Wis. Stat. § 980.09 apply retroactively. Section 980.09 is a procedural statute, prescribing the legal mechanism by which a committed person may obtain a discharge trial. Revisions to a procedural statute are presumed to be retroactive. The two exceptions to this rule do not apply in this case. Carter had no vested right to a discharge trial, and the revisions do not impose any unreasonable burden on him.

II. The revisions do not violate a committed person's right to due process. The revisions comport with the principles of substantive due process because they are rationally related to the State's legitimate interests in protecting the community from sexually dangerous persons and in promoting the efficiency of the judicial system. The revised procedure, which is similar to the procedure for getting a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence, serves the State's interests by more efficiently weeding out unmeritorious petitions than the previous procedure, and reserving trials for those who have a reasonable probability of prevailing. The revisions similarly comply with the requirements of procedural due process because the State's legitimate interests in protecting the community from sexually dangerous persons and in promoting the efficiency of the judicial system can be accommodated without any serious risk of erroneously depriving Carter of his liberty.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

On review of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the circuit court's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶¶ 21, 24, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. Whether counsel's performance was deficient and/or prejudicial to the defense are questions of law that are determined independently. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶¶ 23–24.

Whether a change in a statute has retroactive effect is a question of law that is determined independently. *Matthies* v. *Positive Safety Mfg. Co.*, 2001 WI 82, ¶ 15, 244 Wis. 2d 720, 628 N.W.2d 842.

Whether a statute is constitutional is a question of law that is determined independently, as are included questions regarding the allocation of the burden of proof. *State v. West*, 2011 WI 83, ¶¶ 21–22, 336 Wis. 2d 578, 800 N.W.2d 929.

Whether a party should be allowed to withdraw a concession is within the discretion of the court. *Burmeister v. Vondrachek*, 86 Wis. 2d 650, 664, 273 N.W.2d 242 (1979).

ARGUMENT

I. Carter failed to prove that the attorney who represented him in connection with his petition for discharge from a commitment as a sexually violent person was ineffective for agreeing that the revisions made to Wis. Stat. § 980.09 by 2013 Wis. Act 84 apply retroactively to petitions filed before the effective date of the act because the revisions are retroactive.

By agreeing that the revisions made to Wis. Stat. § 980.09 by 2013 Wis. Act 84 apply retroactively to petitions for discharge from a commitment as a sexually violent person filed before the effective date of the act, Carter's attorney forfeited any right to argue that these revisions are not retroactively applicable to the petition filed by Carter. *See State v. Torkelson*, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 25, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511; *State v. Nielsen*, 2001 WI App 192, ¶ 11, 247 Wis. 2d 466, 634 N.W.2d 325.

A defendant must bear the risk of an alleged attorney error that results in a procedural default unless the performance of his attorney was constitutionally ineffective. *Coleman v. Thompson*, 501 U.S. 722, 752 (1991). Therefore, a waiver can be circumvented by a claim that counsel provided ineffective assistance. *State ex rel. Rothering v. McCaughtry*, 205 Wis. 2d 675, 680 n.5, 556 N.W.2d 136 (Ct. App. 1996). This means that a waived error, even a constitutional error, is not reviewed directly, but is analyzed under the standards for determining whether counsel was ineffective. *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 375 (1986); *State v. Carprue*, 2004 WI 111, ¶ 47, 274 Wis. 2d 656, 683 N.W.2d 31.

A criminal defendant who claims that his attorney was ineffective has a dual burden to prove both that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 18. A claim of ineffective assistance fails if the defendant fails to prove either one of these requirements. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 18, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719.

A. Carter's attorney did not perform deficiently by agreeing that the new revisions apply retroactively to this case since a reasonable attorney could conclude that the revisions are retroactive.

To prove that his attorney performed deficiently, a defendant must overcome a strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably, and establish that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 60, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115; Thiel, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19. There is a range of reasonableness, Chen v. Warner, 2005 WI 55, ¶ 37 n.24, 280 Wis. 2d 344, 695 N.W.2d 758, permitting different people to different reasonably make decisions in the same circumstances. State v. St. George, 2002 WI 50, ¶ 58, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777; State v. Robinson, 146 Wis. 2d 315, 330, 431 N.W.2d 165 (1988).

To be reasonable is not to be perfect, so a decision can be perfectly reasonable even though it may be mistaken. *Heien v. North Carolina*, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014); *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 44, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143. Thus, the test for ineffective assistance of counsel does not assess the legal correctness of counsel's judgments, but the reasonableness of those judgments under the circumstances of the case. *State v. Weber*, 174 Wis. 2d 98, 115, 496 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1993).

The reasonableness of an attorney's acts is judged deferentially on the facts of the particular case viewed from

counsel's contemporary perspective to eliminate the distortion of hindsight. *State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 25, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583. From this perspective, an attorney is not ineffective for making what in retrospect might appear to be an error of judgment on law that is unsettled. *State v. Van Buren*, 2008 WI App 26, ¶¶ 18–19, 307 Wis. 2d 447, 746 N.W.2d 545; *Maloney*, 281 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 23.

That the law remains unsettled to this day is illustrated by the fact that this Court granted review of this case to authoritatively decide the question of whether 2013 Wis. Act 84 applies retroactively. So Carter's attorney did not perform deficiently, even if he might have been wrong about the retroactivity of the revisions, as long as any error was not unreasonable.

But counsel was not wrong. His conclusion that the revisions to the statute relating to discharge petitions are retroactive was not just reasonable, it was right. Both the circuit court (R. 189:11, Pet-App. 124) and the court of appeals, *Carter*, 373 Wis. 2d 722, ¶ 22 (Pet-App. 111), determined that the revisions apply retroactively to the petition filed in this case.

The rules regarding the retroactivity of statutes were comprehensively considered in *Trinity Petroleum, Inc. v. Scott Oil Co., Inc.,* 2007 WI 88, 302 Wis. 2d 299, 735 N.W.2d 1. See also Kroner v. Oneida Seven Generations Corp., 2012 WI 88, ¶¶ 26–27, 33, 342 Wis. 2d 626, 819 N.W.2d 264 (reaffirming the *Trinity Petroleum* analysis).

Although, as a general rule, substantive statutes apply prospectively, a statute that is procedural or remedial rather than substantive is presumed to have retroactive application. *Trinity Petroleum*, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶¶ 40, 80 & n.24. A statute is substantive when it creates, defines or regulates rights or obligations. *Trinity Petroleum*, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶ 41. A statute is procedural when it prescribes the method, manner or mode of conducting legal proceedings to enforce those rights or duties. *Trinity Petroleum*, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶ 41.

Wisconsin Statute § 980.09 is a procedural statute. It prescribes the legal mechanisms by which a committed person may obtain a discharge trial. See City of Madison v. Town of Madison, 127 Wis. 2d 96, 102, 377 N.W.2d 221 (Ct. App. 1985). It creates a process for weeding out meritless and unsupported petitions for discharge while still protecting a committed person's access to a discharge trial. State v. Arends, 2010 WI 46, ¶ 22, 325 Wis. 2d 1, 784 N.W.2d 513. In this respect it is very much like the statute recognized as procedural in Trinity Petroleum, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶ 47.

In the companion case to this one, *State v. Hager*, the court of appeals correctly recognized that section 980.09 was revised to increase the petitioning person's burden of production. While before it was sufficient to allege facts from which a trier of fact "may conclude" that the committed person would prevail at a trial, now there must be facts from which a trier of fact "would likely conclude" that he would prevail. *Hager*, 373 Wis. 2d 692, ¶ 28. (Pet-App. 144–45.)

The Legislature also made other changes to the statute. The Legislature altered the "lookback period" to the most recent evidentiary hearing on the merits. *Hager*, 373 Wis. 2d 692, ¶ 28. (Pet-App. 145.) The focus of the review shifted from the contents of the petition to the contents of the record. *Hager*, 373 Wis. 2d 692, ¶ 29. (Pet-App. 145–46.) The record now includes the evidence at the most recent hearing where the committed person was found to be sexually violent. *Hager*, 373 Wis. 2d 692, ¶ 29. (Pet-App. 145–46.) These revisions are all procedural, designed to

change the method, manner or mode of conducting legal proceedings to enforce a committed person's right to a discharge if he no longer meets the criteria for commitment.

A procedural statute will not be given retroactive effect if it disturbs a vested right other than in a matter of procedure. *Trinity Petroleum*, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶ 53. A litigant has no vested right to any particular procedure. *Trinity Petroleum*, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶¶ 48, 62. The vested right must be a substantive right, such as a right to assert a cause of action. *Trinity Petroleum*, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶¶ 57– 58, 60. A right to petition a court for a modification of a court order is a substantive right. *See Schulz v. Ystad*, 155 Wis. 2d 574, 597–98, 456 N.W.2d 312 (1990).

A change in a procedural rule that merely alters the burden of production does not impair a person's right to assert a cause of action by petitioning for discharge from a sexually violent person commitment. A sexually violent person is still entitled to bring a petition for discharge at any time. Wis. Stat. § 980.09(1). The person is still entitled to a trial if he makes the required preliminary showing. Wis. Stat. § 980.09(1), (2). The person is still entitled to discharge if the State fails to prove at a trial that he is still sexually violent. Wis. Stat. § 980.09(3), (4).

In any event, the right to a trial on a petition for discharge is not a vested right. A right that is contingent on an uncertain future event is not vested. Lands' End, Inc. v. City of Dodgeville, 2016 WI 64, ¶ 50 & n.17, 370 Wis. 2d 500, 881 N.W.2d 702. A committed person has a right to a discharge trial only under appropriate circumstances. See State v. Richard, 2014 WI App 28, ¶ 17, 353 Wis. 2d 219, 844 N.W.2d 370. Until a court makes a finding that the committed person has alleged facts that would entitle him to a trial, no right to any trial accrues. See Trinity Petroleum, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶ 62.

Finally, a procedural statute will not be given retroactive effect if it imposes an unreasonable burden on a party attempting to comply with the new procedural requirements. *Trinity Petroleum*, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶ 53. In a situation like the one in this case where a pleading was filed before the effective date of the new rule but was not litigated until after the effective date, the question is whether the parties were given adequate notice of the new procedural rule, and could have tailored the way they litigated the case so as to comply with it. *See Trinity Petroleum*, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶¶ 59, 72.

Here, the new revisions became law the day before Carter's discharge petition was filed, and became effective the day after the filing, 2013 Wis. Sess. Laws 813, *see* Wis. Stat. § 991.11, so that they were in force for all but one day that the proceedings in this case were pending. Here, all the parties were aware of the new procedure before the commencement of the first court proceeding on the petition. (R. 194:4–7.) The court of appeals noted the change in a published opinion decided a couple weeks later, before any other events occurred. *Richard*, 353 Wis. 2d 219, ¶ 12 n.9. Therefore, this case easily could have been, and was, litigated under the new procedure.

Contrary to what Carter contends (Carter's Br. 15), the State has never suggested that the revisions made by Act 84 would apply retroactively when a petition had passed both stages of scrutiny, as discussed by *Arends*, before the effective date of the revisions. If a court had already determined that a committed person was entitled to a discharge trial under the rules in effect at the time of that determination, there would be no occasion to retroactively apply the new standards for determining whether a discharge trial was warranted. But that is not this case. Carter argues that because a sexually violent person is deprived of his liberty by a civil commitment, there must be "mechanisms for periodic review and access to a hearing." (Carter's Br. 17.) But those mechanisms continue to be provided by section 980.09. The new mechanisms might make it more difficult to get a discharge trial, but Carter cites no authority for the proposition that simply increasing the burden he must meet to get a trial prohibits retroactivity if he is able to follow the new procedures in seeking relief. See Trinity Petroleum, 302 Wis. 2d 299, ¶¶ 59, 72. Cf. California Dep't of Corr. v. Morales, 514 U.S. 499 (1995) (a statutory change that alters the method for obtaining a parole hearing which makes it more difficult to get a hearing is not an ex post facto law).

Carter makes reference to his argument that section 980.09 would be unconstitutional if it required weighing evidence favoring discharge against evidence favoring continued commitment. (Carter's Br. 17, 21.) But that has nothing to do with the issue of retroactivity since if the statute is unconstitutional, it cannot be applied at all, retrospectively or prospectively. Besides, the court of appeals has expressly held that the revisions to the statute do not permit or require weighing, *Hager*, 373 Wis. 2d 692, ¶¶ 35, 37 (Pet-App. 148–49), and the State has not disagreed with that ruling in this Court. (State's *Hager* Br. 20, R-App. 125.)

Carter failed to prove that his attorney performed deficiently since it was perfectly reasonable for counsel to conclude, correctly as it turns out, that the new procedural rules created by 2013 Wis. Act 84 apply retroactively to this case. В. Carter failed to prove that he was prejudiced by his attorney's agreement that the new rule applied retroactively to this because it does case apply retroactively.

Because Carter failed to prove that his attorney performed deficiently by agreeing that the new standard of proof applies retroactively to this case, Carter's claim of ineffective assistance fails, and there is no need to inquire whether he was prejudiced by his attorney's performance because he would have been entitled to a trial under the old standard. *Williams*, 296 Wis. 2d 834, ¶ 18; *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 18.

In any event, Carter cannot prove prejudice because the conclusion that the new burden of production applies to this case is not just reasonable, it is correct. For the reasons discussed above, the new standard does apply retroactively to this and other petitions for discharge filed before the date 2013 Wis. Act 84 became effective.

II. The revisions made to Wis. Stat. § 980.09 by 2013Wis. Act 84 do not violate a committed person's constitutional right to due process.

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